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9 UNITED STATES DISTRICT COURT -
10 NORTHERN DISTRICT OF CALIFORNIA

1

1;(%&}}1 FRALEY; PAUL WANG; SUSAN e No. ? 2 6
MAINZER; JAMES H. DUVAL, a minf, b 1(‘? — 0 E

13 { and through JAMES DUVAL, as Guardiah a ‘ s
Litem; and WILLIAM TAIT, a minor, by and L
14 || through RUSSELL TAIT, as Guardian ad Cal. Superior Court, County of Santa Clara
Litem; individually and on’behalf of all others Case No.: 111CV196193

15 | similarly situated,
NOTICE OF REMOVAL OF ACTION

16 Plaintiffs, UNDER 28 U.S.C. §§ 1332(d), 1446, AND
1453(b)

17 V.
Complaint Filed: March 11, 2011

18 | FACEBOOK, INC,, a corporation; and DOES

1-100, First Amended Complaint Filed: March
19 18,2011
Defendants.
20
21

22 || To THE CLERK OF THE ABOVE-ENTITLED COURT:

23 PLEASE TAKE NOTICE that pursuant to 28 U.S.C. §§ 1332(d), 1446, and 1453(b), defendant
24 | Facebook, Inc. (“Facebook” or “Defendant”), by its undersigned attorneys, hereby removes to

25 || this Court the above-captioned civil action, and all claims and causes of action therein, from the
26 | Superior Court of California, County of Santa Clara, to the United States District Court for the

27 | Northern District of California. Defendant states as follows:

g |
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ATTQRNEYS AT Law UNDER 28 U S C §§ 1332(d}, ]446 AND 1453(b)
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Jurisdiction and Authority for Remaoval

1) On March 11, 2011, an action was commenced by plaintiff Angel Fraley and her
co-plaintiffs (“Plaintiffs™) against Facebook in the Superior Court of the State of California in and
for the County of Santa Clara, entitled “Angel Fraley, Paul Wang, and Susan Mainzer,
individually and on behalf of all others similarly situated v. Facebook, Inc., a corporation, and
DOES 1-100” (“Fraley”), with case number 111CV196193. This removal is therefore timely
under 28 U.S.C. § 1446(b).

2) Attached heréto as Exhibit A are all electronically filed documents in the Fraley
case file, including a copy of the Fraley Complaint and First Amended Complaint.

3) The Northern District of California encompasses Santa Clara County.

4) This Court has original jurisdiction over this action under 28 U.S.C. § 1332(d) (the
Class Action Fairness Act (“CAFA™)) because, according to the First Amended Complaint, (@a
member of ihe putative class is a citizen of a state different from any defendant, 28 U.S.C. §
1332(d)(2)(A); (b) the putative class action consists of at least 100 putative class members, 28
U.S.C. § 1332(d)(5)(B); and (¢) the amount in controversy exceeds the sum or value of
$5,000,000, exclusive of interest and costs, 28 U.S.C. § 1332(d)(2).

5) This action is a “class action™ within the meaning of CAFA because Plaintiffs seek
to represent a class of persons in a civil action brought under California Code of Civil Procedure
§ 382 and California Civil Code § 1781 (First Amended Complaint (“FAC™) 44 45-51), which are
“statute(s] . . . of judicial procedure authorizing an action to be brought by 1 or more
representative persons as a class action.” 28 U.S.C. § 1332(d)(1)}(B).

6) Defendant may thus remove this action to this Court under 28 U.S.C. § 1453(b).
Citizenship of Parties and Putative Class (28 U.S.C. § 1332(d)(2)(A))

7 According to the First Amended Complaint (FAC ¥ 6), Plaintiff Angel Fraley is a
resident of Seattle, King County, Washington.

8) . Facebook is a corporation organized under the laws of Delaware with its principal
place of business in Palo Alto, California.

9 Facebook is a social network that enables users to connect and share content with

NOTICE OF REMOVAL
UNDER 28 U.8.C. §§ 1332(d), 1446, AND 1453(b)
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their family and friends. Facebook users reside throughout the United States and the rest of the
world, (FAC 99 13, 45.) '

10)  Plaintiffs seek fo represent a class of plaintiffs who reside “in the United States.”
(FAC ¥ 44.) Plaintiffs have defined the putative class as:

All registered Members of facebook.com as of January 24, 2011 in
the United States who are natural persons, who remained registered
through January 25, 2011 or later, and who have had their names,
photographs, likenesses or identities used in a Facebook Sponsored
Stories ad (“the Class™).’

(FAC f44)

11)  Thus, one named plaintiff and other members of the putative class are citizens of a
state other than Delaware or California, 28 U.5.C. § 1332(d)(2)(A). -
Number of Class Members (28 U.S.C. § 1332(d)(5{B))

12}  Plaintiffs allege that there are “potentially 133 million persons in the Class, and
over 51 million in the Minor Class,” (FAC §45.)

13} Therefore, there are at least 100 members of Plaintiffs’ putative class. 28 U.S.C.
§ 1332(d)(5XB).
Amount in Controversy (28 U.S.C. § 1332(d)(2))

14)  Assuming, for purposes of this Notice of Removal, that all of Plaintiffs’
allegations were true and the putative class of plaintiffs were to be certified, the amount in
controversy, exclusive of interest and costs, exceeds $5,000,000. 28 U.S.C. § 1332(d)(2).

15)  Plaintiffs assert the following claims: (i) violation of California Civil Code section
3344 (misappropriation of the right of publicity), (i1} violation of California Business and
Professions Code section 17200 (unlawful, unfair, and fraudulent business practices), and
(iii) unjust enrichment. Plaintiffs seek actual, statutory, and exemplary damages, restitution,
disgorgement, and recovery of their fees and expenses. (FAC Y 56-83.)

16)  According to the First Amended Complaint, “Plaintiffs and Members of the Class

! Plaintiffs also purport to assert claims on behalf of a subclass of minors, which Plaintiffs have
defined as “All persons in the Plaintiff Class who additionally have had their names, photographs,
likenesses or identities used in a Facebook Sponsored Stories ad while under 18 years of age (‘the
Minor Subclass”),” (FAC 9§ 44.)

NOTICE OF REMOVAL
UNDER 28 U.S.C. §§ 1332(d), 1446, AND 1453(b)




Caseb:11-cv-01726-LHK Documentl Filed04/08/11 Page4 of 40

I | seek also remedy as provided for by Cal. Civ. Code § 3344(2) in the amount equal to the greater
2 | of $750 per incident, or actual damages, any profits attributable to [Defendants’ allegedly
3 | improper conduct], before taking into account any actual damages, punitive damages, atiorneys
4 { fees and costs, and any relief as may be appropriate.” (FAC 4 67.)
5 17)  As noted above, Plaintiffs seek to represent a class that allegedly includes at least
6 [ 153 million Facebook users. (See supra §12.)
7 18)  Without taking into account other relief sought by Plaintiffs for their additional
8 | causes of action, and based on the Plaintiffs’ own allegations, Plaintiffs’ demand for statutory
9 | damages for their misappropriation claim under California Civil Code section 3344 places the
10 | amount in controversy in excess of the statutory minimum $5,000,000 for federal diversity
11 | jurisdiction pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1332(d)(2).2 (See supra 9 16-17.)
12 | Naetice to Superior Court of Removal of Civil Action
13 19)  Defendant will promptly serve a copy of this Notice of Removal on counsel for
14 | Plaintiffs and will file a copy of this Notice of Removal with the Clerk of the Superior Court of
15 | California for the County of Santa Clara pursuant to 28 U.S.C. § 1446(d).
16 |
17 | Dated: April 8,2011 COOLEY LLP
18
20 Matthew D. Brown (196972)
Attorneys for Defendant
21 FACEBOOK, INC,
22
23
24
25
26
27 || ?In filing this Notice of Removal, Facebook makes no admissions as to any allegations contained
in Plaintiffs’ First Amended Complaint, nor does Facebook waive or forfeit any arguments or
28 | _defenses.
CoOLEYLLP : NOTICE OF REMOVAL
A;Ts:r;::‘; AT Law s UNDER 28 U.S.C. §§ 1332(d), 1446, AND 1453(b)
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EXHIBIT A
To Notice of Removal
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| Plaintifis ANGEL FRALEY, PAUL WANG and SUSAN MAINZER, JAMES H. DUVAL,
minor, by and through JAMES DUVAL as Guardian ad Litem, and WILLIAM TAIT, a minor,
by and through RUSSELL TAIT, es Guandian ed Litem (‘Plsintiffs”) on behalf of themselves and
all othecs similarly situated, make the following allegations on information and belief, except as 10
allegations pertaining to Plaintiffs, which are based on personal knowledge:

L INTRODUC‘I‘ION
2. Plaintiffs bring this class action complaint against Facebook, Inc. (hereafter, “FACEBOOK™) fo:]
appropnahng the names, photographs likenesses and identities of Plaintiffs to advertise products,
services or brands for a commercial purpose without Plaintiffs’ consent, or the consent of their
or legal guardiens when a minor was involved, for unfair and deceptive business pracﬁccs,m‘j
violation of PACEBOOK 's agreement with Plaintiffs, accepted industry standards, and state law.
3. FACEBOOK inteationally and knowingly conducted such actions without Plaintifis consent, oj
the consent of their parents or legal guardians when a minor was involved, for substantin! profit in
scheme to advertise or sell products or services or brands. '

II. JURISDICTION AND VENUE
4,  This Court has personal jurisdiction over FACEBOOK because (a) a substential portion of th

wrongdoing alleged in this complaint tock place in this state, and (b) FACEBOOK is authorized to d
business here, has sufficient minimum contacts with this state, and/or otherwise intentionally & i
itself of the markets in this state through the promotion, marketing and sale of products and services in
this stute, to render the exercise of jurisdiction by this Court permissible under traditional notions of
fair play and substantial justice.
5. Venue ig proper in this County undes the California Code of Civil Procedure section 395 and
Rusines: & Professions Code section 17203 because this Com't is a court of competent jurisdiction, and

of Santa Clara, State of California.

Page2
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L PAKI'IES
6.  Individyal PIainujﬂClgg Representatives, Plaintiff Angel Fraley is & citizen snd resident of
Seattle, in King County, Washington. Ms. Fraley has been, and still is, a registered member of the
facebook.com web site (hereafter, “Facebook.com™) since before January 25, 2011. At all relevan

times herein, Ms, ‘Fra.ley was a Facebook.com member who, on one or more occagions during the cl
period, in her city of residence, accessed Facebook.com as a registered member to “Post”, employ th
«T ike” function, employ a parter application, or in vasious locations within the state of Washington,
wilize the Facebook.com “Cheok-in” feature to post her geographical location to her Fasebook N
Feed, Sometime later, FACEBOOK caused her name, photograph, likeness or identity to appear in
Sponsored Story a3 an endorsement for a paid advertisement without her consent, and caused tha
adverfisement to be shown to ont or more Facebook Friends within the state of Washington, California
and the rest of the United States.

7. Plaintiff Susan Mainzer is a citizen and resident of Los Angeles, Celifornia in Los Angelcj
County. Ms. Mainzer has been, and still is, a registered Faccbook member since before January 25

2011. At all relevant times herein, Ms. Mainzer was a Facebook.com member that, on one or mo
occasions during the class period, in her city of residence, accessed Facebook.com 2s a regi
member to “Post”, employ the “Like” function, employ a periner application, or in varicus locatio
within California, utilize the Facebook "Check-in” feature to post her geographical Jocation to b
Facebook News Feed. Sometime later, FACEBOOK caused her name, photograph, likeness or identi
fo appear in 8 Sponsored Story as an endorsement for a paid advertisement without her consent, &nd
caused that advertisement to be shown to one or more Facebook Friends within and outside of
California.

8.  Plaintiff Paul Wang is & citizen and resident of Ockland, California in Alameda County. M
Wang hes been,“and still is, 2 registered Facebook member since before January 25, 2011, At
relevant times hérein, Mr, Wang was & Facebook.com member that, on one or more occasions duri
the class period, in his state of residence, accessed Facebook.com as a registered member to “Post”
employ the “Like” funchon, employ a partoer application, or in various locations within California)
utilize the Facebook “Check-in” feature to post his geographicel location to hig Facebook News Feed

Page3
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Sometime later, FACEBOOK caused his name, photograph, likeness or identity to appear in 1
Sponsored Story as an endorsement for a paid advertisement without his consent, and caused tha '
advertisement 1o be shown to one or more Facebook Friends within and outside of California.

9.  Plaintiff James H. Duval is and at all relevant times was a minor, under 18 years of age, residi
in Contra Costa County, California. James H. Duval has been, and still is, & registered Faceboo!
member since before January 25, 2011 At all relevant times herein, James H. Duval was

residence, accessed Facebook.com as a registered Member to “Post”, employ the “Like” function,
employ a partner application, or in various locations within Californis, utifize the Facebook “Check-in’]
feature to post his geographical location to his Facebook News Feed. Sometime later, on inforation)
and belief, FACEBOOK caused his name, photograph, likeness or identity fo appear in a Sponsored
Story as an endorsement for a paid advertisement without the consent of his perents, and caused that
advertisement to be shown to one or more Facebook Friends within and outside of California. James
Duvat is the parent and guardien ad litem of James H. Duval. -
10, Plaintff Wiltiam Tait is and at all relevet times was a mipor, under 18 years of age, residing in
the County of Les Angeles, California. William Tait has been, and still is, a registered Facebook.col
member since before January 25, 2011. At all relevant times herein, William Tait was a Facebook.co

member who, on one or more occasions during the class period, in his state of residence,
Facebock.com as a registered Member to “Post”, employ the “Like” function, employ a
application, or in various locations within California, utilize the Facebook.com “Check-in” feature to
post his geographical location to his Facebook News Feed. Sometime later, on information and belief]
FACEROOK ceused his name, photograph, likeness or identity to appear in a Sponsored Story a3
endorsement for'a paid advertisement without the consent of his parents, and caused that advertisemen
to be shown to 'ohe or more Facebook Friends within and outside of California. Russell Tait is the
parent and guardian ad litem of William Tait.

11. Defendant Facebook, inc. is a corporation organized and existmg under the laws of the state of
Delaware that maintains its headquarters and principal place of business in Palo Alio, California]

Page 4
RIRST AMENDED CLASS ACTION COMPLAINT FOR DAMAGES




[P - B R - ST T - L I

[t 34 ba
N R R RBNERBEEIRLYEEES

-~
n

-ag those outside of this group. Facebook.com has become an integral part of the lives of approxitnatel

Caseb:11-cv-01726-LHK Documentl Filed04/08/11 PagelO of 40

operating by and under the laws of California. FACEBOOK conducts business throughout California
the nation and the world. FACEBOOK operates the [nternet site facebook.com.

12. ' Defendant Does 1 through 100. Plaintiffs are unaware of the true names and capacities of DoeJ
| ﬁn‘ough 160, mclumve, and therefore sue such defendants by fictitious names. Plaintiffs will amend
the complaint to shuw the true nemes and capacities of the fictitiously named defendants when they arg
ascertained. Plamhﬂ'i: are informed and believe, and on that basis allege, that Does 1 through 100 arg
agenis, joint employers, co-conspirators, employees and/or representatives of the named defendants/
Pleintiff is informed and believes, and on that besis alleges, that the fictitiously named defendants are
liable to plaintiff and the class members, and each of them, for the conduct and damages alleged herein.

1V. FACTUAL ALLEGATIONS

13. Dufendant FACEBOOK owns and operates the world’s largest social networking site,
facebook.com. FACEBOOK requires Intemet Members to register (“Members™) in order to po
content to the site, establish social network relationships within the site, and view most of the conten
produced by other Facebook.com Members. Members teceive an Internet presence on Facebook.co:
where they can exchange highly personal messages through text, images, audio and video, and disple;
equally personal photos, to an explicitly identified group of friends, family and acquammnca. as wel

600 million people around the world and hes become the de facto method of communication amo:
friends for a significant portion of these Members. Facebook.com has over 148 million Members in th
United States, Over 14 million of these are minors.

14. To become a Member of Facebook.com, persons must register a profile. FACEBOOK r
its Members to submit their true names, email addresses, birth dates, and gender in order to register.
15. A Member gets a “Profile” page. This Profile page displays News Feeds from oth
Facebook.com Members. The part of the Profile page that displays this information is called th
“Wall.” ' '

16. Members are connected to other Members in relationships called “Friends.” A Fricnd is someon
to whom you have given explicit permission to post content to your “Wall,” to sec information abou
you, and to send you messages,

Page 5
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variety of methods. This information becomes part of the Member’s “News Feed,” which can be seen)
by other persons with whom the Member has a relationship as a Friend.

{8. FACEBOOK sells highly targeted adverfising services that place ads on Members’ Walls and
other pages. FACEBOOK enjoys substantial profits from this.

19. FACEBOOK offers Members a variety of features that are enabled by default. FACEBOOK]
+oquires Members to proactively dissble those featares if Members do ot wart 1o employ them. These
features include *Places” and “Facebook ads”. Many other features cannot be digabled.

20. Posting is the main method of interacting with Facebook.com and is a feature that is alw:j
cnsiled, A Member Posts by adding text, images, web links, and video information to his or her N
Feed,
91.  “Check-in” allows a Member to announcs 1o Friends his or her geographical location within th:?
feature Places. This information is also fed into the Member’s News Feed. The locations are frequentiy
linked to business establishments. “Check-in” is engbled by defauit.

23 “Like" is a button located on pages both inside and ouside of Fecobook com. When Membu#
click on Like buttons, they meke connections to the “Liked” item. Connections appear in the Members
News Feeds.
23.  On or around August 18, 2010, FACEBOOK released the feature Places. “Places” is a featurey
that allows Members to see where his or her friends are and share lis or her actual, physical location
Using Places posts this information to the Member's News Feed and the News Feed of that Member's

24, On or around Jamuary 25, 201, FACEBOOK launched a new advestising service cailed
“Sponsored Stories.” It turns Members’ actions into an endorsed advertisement on their Friends’ pages,
When & Member Posts, Likes, Checks-in, or uses an application that integrates with Sponsored Stories;
and the content relates to an advestiser in some pmgrammaticaﬂy-detennined way, the posted content,
glong with the Member’s profile image and name appears 4s &n endorsement in & paid advertisement on
the pages viewed by some or all of the Friends of that Member.

Page 6
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25. The Sponsored Stories service ig enabled for all Members. Members ate unsble to opt-out of the
service.
26. FACEBOOK's ferms of use, comprised of the Statement of Rights and Responsibilities,
(http:ffwww.facebook.com/terms.php?refwf), Privacy Policy (iiﬁp:llwww.faccbook.comfpn!icy.php)
and a variety of references found with tremendous difficulty—if at all—throughout the Facebook.com
site (colloctively referred to as “Terms of Use” hereafier.) '

27. FACEBOOK's Terms of Use mislead Members into believing that Members can prohibit the

use of their name _and profile picture in advertisements:

You can use your ptivacy settings to limit how your name and profile picture may
be agsociated with commercial, sponsored, or related content (such as a brand you
like) served or enhanced by us. You give us permission to use your neme and
profile picture in connection with that content, subject to the limits you place.

Statement of Rights and Responsibilities, Section 10.1 hup:llwww.facebook.com!t&msmp‘?m&pf

28. Regarding Posts by a Member, The Privacy Policy states, “You can control exactly who can seg
it at the time you create it.” (Privacy Policy, Section 3 http:lfwww.facebook.comlpoﬁcy.php).
20, In spite of the above misleading assertions in the Terms of Use a Member cannot prevent & Post]
Like, Check-in or application from taking a Member's nams, photograph, likeness or identity and usin
it as an endotsement for a Sponsored Story. From a buried Help Center page, not connected by aoy ii
within the Privacy Policy or Statement of Rights and Responsibilities peges, FACEBOOK publi
the following question and answer: -

Can I opt out of seeing or being featured in sponsored News Feed stories? While
there is no way to opt out of seeing all or being featured in any Sponsored Stories,
you can femove specific stories by clicking the "X" displayed in the upper right
side of a story and choosing the appropriate option when prompted.

Sponsored Stories http:!fwww.ﬁmbookcomlhﬂpl?fﬁlﬁ%
30, The Terins of Use are “challenging” for Meimbers to understand. FACEBOOK, itself
acknowledges t§1'13:

Many websites’ privacy policies are challenging for people to understand because

Page 7
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they areoften written for regulators and privacy advocates, not the majority of
people -who -actually use those websites, Our own privacy policy has been
criticized as being «5830 words of legalese” and njonger than the U.S, constitution
— without the amendments.” Okay, you're right. We agree that privacy policies
can and should be more casily understood,....

«A Privacy Policy Posted Re-imagined For Users Like You”, Facebook Site
Governance (posted February 25,2011)
httpsu’lww%fao:book.conﬂfbsitegovamance

31. A Member is never required to actively read or agree to the Terms of Use.

12, No consentIs sought o received for  Membe's sctan in “Liing,” “Checking in’” 0 b= used
an endorsement of the advestiser. Even if Members had read the Terms of Use, they could not kno
that thei Hkenesses and names would be later used in Sponsored Stories ads sent to their Faceboo
Friends: Sponsored Stoties &d not exist at the time the Class Members first registered,
FACEBQOK never properly-—if at all-notified Members of the drastic changes to FACEBOOK”
advertising scheme.

33. Wherea Membet is & minor, no consent for use of the Member's name, photograph, likencss

24. The Member is deprived of peyment for the use of his or her profile image, name or any oth:%
information used in the endorsed advertisement.
35. The Terms of Use contain the following choice of law clausc:

" You will resolve any claim, cause of action or dispute ("claim") you have with us
arising eut of or relating to this Statement or Facebook exclusively in a state
or federal court located in Santa Clara County. The laws of the State of California
will govern this Statement, 83 well as any claim that might arise between you and
us, without regard to conflict of law provisions. You agree to submit to the
personal jurisdiction of the courts located in Santa Clara County, California for the
purpose of litigating all such claims.

Statement of Rights and Responsibilities, Section 15.1 hup:llwww.fwebook.comltmphp?ref-pf
E ing Plaintiffs’ Acti

36. Pla!miffis each registered a Facebook.com account prior to January 25, 201L

Poge 8
FIRST AMENDED CLASS ACTION COMPLAINT FOR DAMAGES
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v7.  Phintiff sccounts have been continuously active sinee that time and up fo the date of thisf
action.

33,  Plaintiffs’ each Posted content to their News Feeds on or after January 25, 2011,
+9,  Plaiatifs it informed and believe, and thereupo allegs that their posted content, o sore perd
thereof, along with their respective names, photographs, likenesses, or identities, appeared

endorsements of '_a Facebook advertiser, product or service on one or more of the Facebook.com pag

accessed by their Facebook Friends thraugh the Facebook Sponsored Stories advertising service.
40. In other words, their pictures and names WeIe made to appear as part of advertisements for
party companies whose products they may or may not have connected with once. Their “Friends” th
saw what appesred to be an advertisement appearing on their Facebook.com pages, with Plainti
Fraley, Plaintiff Wang, Plaintiff Mainzer, Plaintiff James H. Duval, ot Plaintiff William Teit's profil
image combined with statements such as “Angel Fraley likes [Product X],” “Paul Wang hag checked i
to [Advertiser location Y]," or “Sysan Mainzer likes [Product Z]”, etc. _ v
41, Neither Plaintiffs nor the parents of the minor Plaintiffs, ever consented to the use of their names,
photographs likenesses, or identities to advertise or sell products or services or brands through th
Facebook Sponsored Stories advertising service. Plaintiffs and the parents of the minor Plainti
reasonably believed that their names and likenesses would not be so used.

42. The value to an advertiser or scll of advertistments of using the name, photograph, likeness o1}
identity of a Friend is measurably higher than of using such items of & person uncomnected with the )
person to whomn ‘the advertisment is being shown, That value is measureble in dollars on 2 class-widd
bagis. .

43.  Plaintiffs were ‘deprived of fair market value remunerstion for the use of theit names,
photographs likenesses and identities, and were thus harmed.

V. CLASSACTION ALLEGATIONS
44, Plaintiff Clags. The class sought to be represented is defined ag follows:
lAll registered Members of facebook.com as of January 24, 2011 in the United States
who are batural persons, who remained registered through January 25, 2011 or later, and
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who have had their names, photographs, likenesses or identities used in a Facebook
Sponsored Storics ad (“the Class").

Subcless of Minors. .
All persons in the Plaintiff Class who additionally have had their names,

photographs, likenesses of identities used in a Facebook Sponsored Stories ad while
under 18 years of age (“the Minor Subclass").

Excluded from the Class ere (a) FACEBOOK, its officers and directors, legal
representatives, successors or essigns; (b) eny eatity in which FACEBOOK has or had 8
coﬁtrolling interest; (c) the judge 1o whom this case is assigned and the judge's immediate
family; (d) anmy juror selected to hear this case.

45. The Class is comprised of thousands if not millions of persons, and is therefore so aumerous m#
joinder in this action would be impracticable. The disposition of their claims through this class actior]
will beneft Class Membes, the parties and the cowrs. Upon information and belicf, FACEBOOK h
over 600 million Members worldwide, and potentially over 153 million persons in the Class, and ove

51 million in the Minor Class.
46. Upon information and belicf, the identities and contact information of the individual Members o

the Class are available through FACEBOOK’s electronic records.
47. There is a well-defined community of interest in questions of law snd fact affecting the Class
Thess questions of law end fact predominate over individual questions affocting individual Clasq
Members, including, but not limited to, the following:
s Whether Plaintiffs and the Class consented to the use of their names,
photographs, likenesses, or identities in Sponsored Stories;
o Whether FACEBOOK gained a commercial benefit or some other advantage
by using Plaintiff and the Class' names, photographs, likenesses, or
" identities in Spqnsored Stories;

Page 10
FIRST AMENDED CLASS ACTION COMPLAINT FOR DAMAGES




\DW‘JG\U‘#MM-—-

R 3B EBEESEHEETERES

25

27

b}

Caseb:11-cv-01726-LHK Documentl Filed04/08/11 Pagel6 of 40

o Whether Plaintiffs and the Class were harmed by the nonconsensual use of

their names, photographs, likenesses, or identities in Sponsored Stories, and
whether FACEBQOK ’s conduct was a substantial factor in causing that
harm;
e« Whether Class Members are entxtled to damages as a result of
FACEBOOK's conduct, and, if s, what is the measure of those damages;
» Whether FACEBOOK's conduct described herein violated California’s
Unfair Competition Law (Cal. Bus. & Prof. Code § 17200, et seq.);
o Whether FACEBOOK was unjustly enriched as a result of its conduct
described herein; .
« Whether FACEBOOK violated California Civil Code section 3344; and
« What the value of an endorsement by 2 non-celebrity is in a social network
- advertisement.
48, FACEBOOK cngaged in a common course of conduot giving risc o the legal rights sought to
enforced by Class Members, Similar or jdentical statutory and common law violations, busi
practices and injuries are involved, Individual questions, if any, pale by comparison to the numero
common questions that predominate.
49. The injuries sustained by Members of the Class flow, in each instance, arise fiom & common
nucleus of opemnve facts. In cach case, FACEBOOK caused of permitted the unauthorized
gppropriation of the Plaintiff and the Class Members’ names, photographs, likenesses of 1den'at1uT
without adequate or any notice, consent, or opportunity to withdraw from participation.
50. Given the similar nature of the Class Members' claims and the absence of material differences i
the statues and common laws upon which the Class Members' claims are based, a nationwide class will
beeasnlymanaged bytlnCourtandthepama
5(. Because of the relatively small gize of the individual Class Manbers' clalms, no Class Membe:r
could afford to seek legal redress on an individual basis.

Page 11
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53, Plaintiffs’ claims are typical of those of the Class s all Members of the Class are similarly
affected by FACEBOOKs uniform and actionable conduct as alleged herein,
3. FACEBOOK has acted and failed to act on grounds generally epplicable to Plaintiffs and th

other Members of the Class, requiring the Clourt's imposition of uniform relicf to ensure compatibl
standards of conduct toward the Members of the Class.

sa Plaintifis will farly and adequtely protect te interests of the Class and have retained cO
competent and experienced in class action litigation. Plaintifis have no interests antegonistic to, of it
conflict with, the Class that Plaintiffs seek to represcat. | N
ss. Plaintiffs rescrve the right t reviss the sbove class definition based on facts learned il

discovery.

FIRST CAUSE OF ACTION
(Violation of California’s Right of Publicity Statute, Civil Code § 3344)
s6. Plaintiffs incorporats each of the foregoing allegations a3 if fully set forth herein.

from the unauthorized appropriation of the person’s identity by another for commetcial gain.

58. During tie Class period, FACEBOOK and Does 1-100 knowingly used Plaintiffs’ names;
photographs, of likenesses to directly advertise or sell a product or service. '

59. FACEBOOK did not have Plaintiffs’ consent to do so. .

60. Plaintiffs received 00 compensation or other consideration for FACEBOOK's (and/or Ioes 14
100) use thereof.

61. Plaintiffs Were harmed by FACEBOOK’s actions.

62. Use of Plaintiffs’ names, photographs, and likenesses Were directly connected to FACEBCOK'Y
and/or Does 1-100°s commercial use.

¢3. FACEBOOK'’s and/or Does 1-1 00's actions were a substantial factor in Plaintiffs’ harm.
64. The advertisements Were not used in conjunction with news, public affairs, a sports broadcast o:l
account, or a political campaign.

65. Eachincident is a separate and distinct violation of Cal. Civil Code § 3344.

Page 12
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66. Plaintiffs and Members of the Class therefore seek injunctive relief, and other such preliminnryr

and other equitable or declaratory relief as may be appropriate.

67. Plaintiffa and Members of the Class also seek remedy as provided for by Cal. Civ. Code
3344(s) in the amount equal to the greater of $750 per incident, or actual damages, any profi
attributable to FACEBOOK's (and Does 1-100's) illegal action, before taking into account any ac
damages, vunitive damages, attorneys fees and costs, and any relief as may be appropriate.

SECOND CAUSE OF ACTION
(Violation of Cal. Bus. & Prof. Code §1720)

68. Plaintiffs incorporute each of the foregoing allegations as if fully set forth herein.

69. As describzd herein, FACEBOOK's (and Does 1-100°s) nonconsensual use of its Members
names, photographs, and likenesses ¢ a violation of California's Right to Publicity Statute, Civil Code J
1344, '

70. These violations satisfy the «ynlawful” prong of the Unfair Competition Law ("UCL"), Cal. Bus
& Prof. Code § 17200, et seq.

71. FACEBOOK (and Does 1-100"s) also violated the “fraudulent” prong of the UCL by e‘.\':plic'ltly
representing that Members have full control to prevent their appearance in Facebook advertising
including Sponsored Stories, when in reality there is no meaningful way to prevent one’s name;
photogmph, {ikeness or identity from eppearing as an endorsement i Sponsored Stories. Plaintiffs each
reasonably believed that they had only consented to the types of use discussed in the Terms of Use BT

the fime they entered into them; Sponsored Stories did not then exist.

72, Altematively, to the degres the Terms of Use were modified to truthfully represent a Member’
inability to mesingfully opt out of Sponsated Stories, FACEBOOK violated the “fraudulent® prong o
the UCL by knowingly and intentionally failing to seek and acquire informed consent regarding suc

changes to the Terms of Use.
73. FACEBOOK also violated the *unfair” prong of the UCL by leading Members to believe they

Page 13
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such that it becomes indispensible, and then introducing an advertising service from which Mem

are unable to opt out.

74. FACEBOOK violated the wynfair” prong of the UCL by intentionally profiting from th
ponconsensual endorsements extracted from Members without sharing those profits with thoss
Members.

75. FACEBOOK's unfair, deceptive and fraudulent practices originated from and/or occurred
primaly in California. Decisions concerning the creation of Sponsored Stories were made in
Californis, FACEBOOK maintains all or a substantial part of its computer systems that serve
Facsbook.com in Califorsis, and all of & substaitial part of the code and content that compris%
Sponsored Stories is developed and deployed within and from California.
16, Pursuant to Cal. Bus. & Prof. Code § 17203, Plaintiffs seek an order of this Court permanentiy
enjoining FACEBOOK (and Does 1-100’s) from continuing fo engags in the unlawful, unfaic and
framdulent conduct described herein. Plaintiffs seek an order requiring FACEBOOK to (1) jmmediately .

costs and attorneys’ fees pursuant to Cal. Code of Civ. Proc. § 1021.5.

77. Plaintiffs each lost money to which they were entitled in the form of compensation for the use ©
their images and names, and in which they had a vested interest, by virtue of FACEBOOK s (and D
1-100’s) conduct. They are entitled to restitution of such sums. ) )

THIRD CAUSE OF ACTION
(Unjust Enrichment)

78,  Plaintiff incorporates each of the foregoing allegations as if fully set forth herein.

79, Plaintiff and the Class have conferred a benefit upon FACEBOOK (and Does 1-100’s)
FACEBOOK (and Does 1-100° 8) has received and refained money from advertisers, a portion of which
belong to Pleintiffs and the Class as & result of co-opting Members names, photographs, likenesses and
identitics, and placing them in paid-for advertisements—Sponsored Stories—as described herein,

80. FACEBQOK (and Does 1-100s) appreciates or has knowledge of said benefit.

Page 14
FIRST AMENDED CLASS ACTION COMPLAINT FOR DAMAGES




wmﬂa«mhuw-—

NNNNN
qmuau‘h‘sﬂg‘s;:am:as:s.

3
o]

'84. ' PRAYER FOR RELIEF W'E'IEREFORE, Plaintiffs individually and on behalf of the Class, pra

Caseb:11-cv-01726-LHK Documentl Filed04/08/11 Page20 of 40

81, Under principles of equity and good conscience, FACEBOOK (and Does 1-100°s} should not
permitted 1o retain money belonging to Plaintiffs and the Class that it unjustly received g a result of §
actions. -

2. Plaintiffs and the Class have suffered loss as & direct result of FACEBOOK's (and Does 1-100’s)
conduct.

§3. Plaintiffs, on their own behalf and on behalf of the Class, seck the imposition of a constructiv
frust on and restitution of the proceeds FACEBOOK (and Does 1-100°s) received as & result of i
conduct described herein, as well as attorney's fees and costs pursuant to Cal. Civ. Proc. Code § 1021.5.

for the following relief:

o Certify this cese as a class action on behalf of the Class defined above, appoi
Plaintiffs Angel Fraley, Paul Wang, Susan Mainzer, Jemes K. Duval by and throu)
James Duval, and William Tait by and through Russell Tait, as class represeniatives
and appoint their counsel as Class co-counsel;

+ Deciare that FACEBOOK's actions, a3 described herein, violate the California Right
to Publicity Act (Cal. Civ. Code § 3344), violate the Unfair Conpetition Law, and
have Jed to unjust enrichment;

« Award injunctive and other equitable relief as is necessary to protect the interests oﬁ
the Plaintiffs and the Class, including, inter alia, en order prohibiting FACEBOOK
“from engaging in the wrongful and unlawful acts described herein;

e Disgorge FACEBOOK of all revenue eamed from its Sponsored Stories feature dm-i.n%
the class period;

e Award damages, including statutory demages where applicable, to Plaintiffs and the

.CIass'manamounttobedemnﬁnedattﬁal; _

e Award ail cconomic, monetary, actual, consequential, and compensatory damages
caused by FACEBOOK's (and Docs 1-100°s) conduct, and if its conduct is proved
willful, award Plaintiffs and the Class exemplary damages; '

Page 15
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of Santa Clara, State of Califomnia,
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1. Plaintiffs ANGEL FRALEY, PAUL WANG and SUSAN MAINZER ("Plaintiffs”) on behalf of
themselves and -all others similarly situated, and make the following allegations on information and
belief, except as to allegations pertaining to Plaintiffs, which are based on personal knowledge:

1. INTRODUCTION
2,  Plaintiffs bring this class action complaint against Facebook, Inc. (hereafter, “FACEBOOK") for
appropriating the names, photographs, likenesses and identities of Plaintiffs to advertise products,
services or brands for a commercial purpose without Plaintiffs’ consent, for unfair and deceptiv
business practicgs, and in violation of FACEBOOK’s agreement with Plaintiffs, accepted indum]
standards, and state law.
3.  FACEBOOK intentionally and knowingly conducted such actions without Plaintiffs’ consent foy
substantial profit in a scheme to advertise or sell products or services or brands.

IL. JURISDICTION AND VENUE

4,  This Court has personal jurisdiction over FACEBOOK because (a) a substantial portion of theJ
wrongdoing elleged in this complaint took place in this state, and () FACEBOOK is authorized to dg

business here, has sufficient minimum contacts with this state, and/or otherwise intentionally avail
jtself of the markets in this state through the promotion, marketing and sale of products and services i
this state, to render the exercise of jurisdiction by this Court permissible under traditional notions o
fair play and substantial justice.

5. Venue is proper in this County under the Califomia Code of Civil Procedure section 395 and
Business & Prof%ssions Code section 17203 because this Court is & court of competent jurisdiction, and
because FACEBOOK's headquarters and principal place of business is in the City of Palo Alto, County|

1M, PARTIES
6.  Individual PlaintiffiClass Representatives, Plaintiff Angel Fraley is a citizen and resident o
Seattle, Washinﬁton in King County. Ms. Fraley has been, and still is, a registered member of
facebook.com web site (hereafier, “FACEBOOK™) since before January 25, 2011. At all relevant time:

herein, Ms. Fraley was a Facebook member who, on one or more occasions during the class pesiod, i
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her city of residence, accessed Facebook as a registered member to “Post”, employ the “Like” function,
employ & partner application, or m va.ri(_aus locations within the state of Washington, utilize the
FACEBOOK “(éheck—'m” feature to post her geographical location to her Facebook News Feed
Sometime later, FACEBOOK caused her name, photograph, likeness or identity to appear in §
Sponsored Story. as an endorsement for a paid adverfiscment, and caused that advertissment to be
shown to one or more “Facebook Friends” within the state of Washington, California, and the rest of
the United States.
7. Plaintiff Susan Mainzer is a citizen and resident of Los Angeles, California in Los Angeleg
County. Ms. Mainzer has been, and still is, a registered Facebook member since before Jamary 25,
2011. At all relevant times herein, Ms. Mainzer was & Facebook member that, on one or morq

occasions during the class period, in her city of residence, accessed facebook.com &s a registered

member to “Post”, employ the “Like” function, employ a pariner application, or in various locatio
within California, utilize the Facebook “Check-in" feature to post her geographical location to
Facebook News Feed. Sometime later, FACEBOOK caused her name, photograph, likeness or identi
to appear in a 'Sponsored Story as an endorsement for a paid advertisement, and caused tha
advertisement to be shown to one or more “Facebook Friends” within and outside of California.

8. - Pluintiff Paul Wang is a citizen and resident of Qakland, California in Alameda County. Mr.
Wang has been, and still is, a registered Facebook member since before January 25, 2011. At all
relevant times herein, Mr. Wang was a Facebook member that, on one or more occasions during the
class period, in his state of residence, accessed facebook.com as a regisiered member to “Post”, empioy]
the “Like" ﬁtncﬁt;n, employ a partner application, or in various locations within Califomia. utilize the

| Facebook “Checl:c__-in?’ feature to post his geographical location to his Facebook News Feed. Sometimt

later, FACEBOOK caused his name, photograph, likeness or identity to appear in & Sponsored Story
an endorsement 'for g paid advertisement, and caused that advertisement to be shown to one or mo
“Facebook Friends” within and outside of California.

9. Defendant Facebook, Inc. is @ California corporation that maintains its headquarters and
principal place of business in Palo Alto, California. FACEBOOK conducts business throughouf
California, the nation and the world. FACEBOOK opemtés the Internet site facebook.com.
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10. Defendant Does | through 100. Plaintiffs are unaware of the true names and capacities of Doey
| through 100, inclusive, and therefore sue such defendants by fictitious names. Plaintiffs will amend
the compiaint to show the true names and capacities of the fictitiously named defendants when they are
ascertained. Plaintiffs are iﬁfamwd and believe, and on that basis allege, that Does I through 100 are
agents, joint employers, co-conspirators, employees and/or representatives of the named defendants
Plaintiff is informed and belicves, and on that basis alleges, that the fictitiously named defendants ard
liable to plainﬁff and the class members, and each of them, for the conduct and damages alleged herein.
1V. FACTUAL ALLEGATIONS

1. Defendant FACEBOOK owns and operates the world’s largest social networking site,
facebook.com. FACEBOOK requires Internet users of its site to register (who then becom
“members”) in order to post content 1o the site, establish social network relationships within the site,
and view most of the content produced by other Facebook members. Members recsive an Intemct
presence on Facebook where they can exchange highly personal messages through text, images, audic
and video, and display equally personal photos, to an explicitly identified group of friends, family and
acquaintances, as well &s those outside of this group. Facebook has become an integral part of the liv
of approximatel}; 600 million people around the world and has become the de facto method

communication 'among'ﬁ-icnds for a significant portion of these members. Facebook has over 14
million members in the United States. Over 14 mullion of these are minors.

{2. To become a member of Facebook, persons must register a profile. FACEBOOK requires itd
members to subrn.it their true names, email addresses, birth dates, and pender in order to register.

13. A member gets a “Profile” page. This Profile page displays News Feeds from other Faceboold -

members. The part of the Profile page that displays this information is called the *Wall.”

14,  Mermbers are connected to other members in relationships called “Friends.” A Friend is someon
to whom you have given explicit permission to post content to your “Wall,” to see information abom]
you, and to send 'you messages.

5. A membc% may post information—text, imagﬁ; web links, and video information—using
variety of methods. This information becomes part of the member’s “News Feed,” which can be seej
by other persons'wim whom the member has a relationship as & Friend.
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16. FACEBOOK sells highly targeted advertising services that place ads on members’ Walls and
other pages. FACEBOOK enjoys substantial profits from this. 7

17. FACEBOOK offers members a variety of features that are enabled by default. FACEBOOK
requires members to pmactfvely disable those features if members do not want to employ them. Thesq
features include “Places,” “Check-in,” and “Like.” Many other features cannot be disabled.

18. Posting is the main method of interacting with Facebook and is a feature that is always enabled
A member Posts by adding text, images, web links, and video information to his or her News Feed.

19.  “Check-in" allows a member to announce to Friends his or her geographical location within thel
feature Places. This information is also fed into the member’s News Feed. The locations are frequently
Jinked to business establishments, “Check-in” is enabled by default.

20. “Like™ is a button which can appear on webpages both inside and outside of Facebook (that is
on third party sites). When members click on Like butions, they make connections to the “Liked” item|
Connections appear in the members® News Feeds,
21. Oneor around August 18, 2010, FACEBOOK released the feature Places. “Places™ is a feature
that allows mcmbers 1o see where his or her friends are and share his or her actual, physical location
Using Places posts this information to the member’s News Feed.
22 On or around Jenuary 25, 2011, FACEBOOK launched a new advertising service called
“Sponsored Stories.” It tums members’ actions into an endorsed advertisement on their Friends” pages
When a member t;osts, Likes, Checks-in, or uses an application that integrates with Sponsored Stories,
and the content relates to an advertiser in some programmatically-determined way, the posted content
along with the mémber’s profile image and name appears as an endorsement in a paid advertisement on
the pages vwwed by some or all of the Friends of that member.
23. The Sponsured Stories service is enabled for all members. Members are unable to opt-out of they
service. .
24, FACEBOOK’s terms of use are comprised of the Statement of Rights and Responsibilities,
(hitp:/farww. facebook com/terms,php?ref=pf), Privacy Pollcy (http:/iwww.facebook com/policy.php);
and a variety of references found with tremendous difficulty—if at all—throughout the Facebook site

(collectxvely referred to &8 “Terms of Use™ hereafter.)
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25. FACEBOOK’s Terms of Use intentionally mislead a member to believe members can prohibi
the use of their name and profile picture in advertisements:

You can use your privacy settings to limit how your name and profile picture may be
associated with commercial, sponsored, or related content (such as a brand you like)
se-ved or enhanced by us. You give us permission to use your name and profile picture in
connection with that content, subject to the limits you place.

Statement of Rights and Responsibilities, Section 10.1 http:/fwww.facebook.com/terms. php?ref=pf

26. Regarding Posts by & member, The Privacy Policy states, “You can control exactly who can see
it at the time you create it.” (Privacy Policy, Section 3 hitp://www.facebook.com/policy.php).

27. In spite of the above misleading assertions in the Terms of Use, a member cannot prevent a Post
Like, Check-in or other FACEBOOK application from taking a member’s name, photograph, likenesg
or identity and using it as an endorsement for a Sponsored Story. From a buried Help Center page, not
connected by any link within the Privacy Policy or Statement of Rights and Responsibilities pages,
FACEBOOK publishes the following qt;estion and answer:

Can I opt out of seeing or being featured in sponsored News Feed stories? While there is
no way to opt out of seeing all or being featured in any Sponsored Stories, you can
reinove specific stories by clicking the "X" displayed in the upper right side of & story
and choosing the appropriate option when prompted. .

Sponsored Stories hitp-/fwww.facebook.com/help/?fag=19723

28. The Terms of Use arc “challenging” for members to understand. FACEBOOK, itself

acknow]edges this:
Many websites’ privacy policies are challenging for people to understand because they
are often written for regulators and privacy advocates, not the majority of people who
actually use those websites. Our own privacy policy has been criticized as being “5830
words of legalese” and "longer than the U.S. constitution ~ without the amendments."

Okay, you're right. We agree that privacy policies can and should be more casily

“A Privacy Policy Posted Re-imagined For Users Like You”, Facebook Site Governance

(posted February 25, 2011)
https:/fwww.facebook.com/fbsitegovernance

29. A member is never required to actively read or agree to the Terms of Use.

Page 6
CLASS ACTION COMPLAINT FOR DAMAGES

b App——— 1 = 3d

s > = o et et

e A, T

Fr g e S o



WoOooa ) h W B W R e

=3

ii
12
13
14
15
16
17
13
19
20
21
22
23
24
25
26
27

7%

‘FACRBOOK never properly—if at all—notified-members of the drastic changes to FACEBOOK'g

| 36.  Plaintiffs® each Posted content to their News Feeds on or after January 25, 2011.
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30. No conseri_t is sought or received for a member’s action in “Liking,” “Checking in,” to be used
an endorsement of the advertiser, Bven if members had read the Terms of Use, they could not kno
that their likenesses and names would be Iater used in Sponsored Stories ads sent to their Faceboo
Friends: Sponsored Stories did mot exist at the time the Class members first registered, and

advertising schefnc.

31. Where a member is a minor, no consent for use of the member’s name, photograph, likeness of]

identity is sought or received from the minor’s parent or legal guardian.

32.  The member is deprived of payment for the use of his or her profile image, name or any othuI

information used in the endorsed advertissment.

33.  The Terms of Use contain the following choice of law clause:
You will resoive any claim, cause of action or dispute {"claim"} you have with us arising
out of or relating to this Statement or Facebook exclusively in & state or federal court
located in Santa Clara County. The laws of the State of California will govem this
Statement, as well as any claim that might arisc between you and us, without regard to

conflict of law provisions. You agree to submit to the personal jurisdiction of the courts
located in Santa Clara County, Califomia for the purposc of litigating all such claims.

Statement of Rights and Responsibilities, Section 15.1 hitp://wrw.facebook com/terms.php7ref—pf
Facts Conceming Plaintiffs” Actions

34, Plaintiffs Fraley, Wang and Mainzer each registered a Facebook account prior to January 25,
2011.

35. Plaintiffs’, accounts have been continuously active since that time and up to the date of thig

action.

37.  Plaintiffs are informed and believe, and thereupon allege that their posted content, or some part
thereof, along with their respective names, photographs, likenesses, or identities, appeared a

endorsements of a Facebook ﬁdvertiser, product or service on one or more of the Facebook pang
accessed by their Facebook Friends through the Facebook Sponsored Stories advertising service.
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38. Inother w-ords, their pictures and names were made to appear as part of advertisements for third
party companies whose products they may or may not have connected with once. Their “Friends” thuﬁ
saw what appeared to be an advertisement appearing on their Facebook pages, with Plaintiff Fraley,
Plaintiff Wang or Plaintiff Mainzer’s profile images combined with statements such as “Angel Fraley
likes [Product X},” “Paul Wang has checked in to [Advertiser location Y],” or “Susan Mainzer likes
[Product Z1.”

39. Plaintiffs never consented to the usc of their names, photographs likenesses, or identities td
advertise or-sell products or services or brands through the Faccbook Sponsored Stories advertising
service. ) '

40. The value of using the name, photograph, likeness or identity of a Friend is measurably high
than of using such items of a person meonnected with the person to whom the advertisement is beixj

41.  Plaintiffs were deprived of fair market value remuneration for the use of their names,
ﬁ:hotographs ﬁkcu;sses and identities, and were thus harmed.
42.  Plaintiffs’ reputations were harmed by the implied endorsement of advertisers or their producty
or services.

V. CLASS ACTION ALLEGATIONS
43,  Plaintiff Ciggg. The class sought to be represented is defined as follows:

All registered members of facebook.com as of January 24,2011 in the United States
who are natural persons and who have had their names, photographs, Lkenesses or
identitiés used in a Facehook Sponsored Stories advertisement (“the Class").

Escluded from the Class are (a) FACEBOOK, its officers and directors, legal
mprcsentatéves, successors or assigns; (b) any entity in which FACEBOOK has or had a
controlling:intcrcst; () the judge to whom this case is assigned and the judge's immediate
fanily; (d)“nny juror selected to hear this case.

44, The Class ié composed of thousands if not millions of persons, and is therefore so numerous that

joinder in this action would be impracticable. The disposition of their claims through this class acnoq
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will benefit Class members, the parties and the courts. Upon information and belief, FACEBOOK
over 600 million‘members worldwide, and over 148 million persons in the Class.
45, Upon information and belief, the identities and contact information of the individual members o
the Class are available through FACEBOOK's electronic records.
46. There is a well-defined community of interest in questions of law and fact affecting the Class|
These questions of lew and fact predominate over individual questions affecting individual Clasg
members, including, but not fimited to, the following:
¢  Whether Plaintiffs and the Class consented to the use of thelr names,
photograpﬁs, likenesses, or identities in Sponsored Stories;
o Whether FACEBOOK gained & commercial benefit or some other adventage by
using Plaintiff and the Class’ names, photographs, likenesses, or identities in
Sponsored Stories;
¢ Whether Class members are entitled to dsmages as a result of FACEBOOKs
conduct, and, if so, what is the measure of those damages;
» Whether FACEBOOK's conduct described herein violated California's Unfair
Competition Law (Cal. Bus. & Prof, Code § 17200, ¢t seq.);
* Whether FACEBOOK was unjustly enriched as a result of its conduct described
herein; and
o Whether FACEBOOX. violated California Civil Code section 3344.
e What the value of an endorsement by a non-celebrity is in a social network
advertisement;
47, FACEBOOK engaged in & common course of conduct giving rise to the legal rights sought to be
enforced by Class members. Similar or identical statutory and common law violations, busi
practices and injuries are involved. Individual questions, if any, pale by comparison to the n::e::]
common questions that do:ﬁinatc.
48, The injuries sustained by members of the Class flow, in each instance, from a commeon nucleug
of operative facts, In each case, FACEBOOK caused or permitted the unauthorized appropriation of the
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Plaintiff and the Class members’ names, photographs, likenesses or identities without adequate of any;
notice, consent, or opportunity to withdraw from participation.

49. Given the similar nature of the Class members' claims and the absence of material differences in
the statutes and common laws upon which the Class members' claims are based, a nationwide class will
be easily managed by the Court and the parties.

50. Because of the relatively small size of the individual Class members' claims, no Class membcl{ -

could afford to seek legal redress on an individual basis.
51, Plaintiffs’ claims are typical of those of the Class as all members of the Class are similarl)T
affected by FACEBOOK's uniform and actionable conduct as alleged herein.
52. FACEBOOK has acted and failed to act on grounds generaily applicable to Plaintiffs and the
other members of the Class, requiring the Court's imposition of uniform relief to ensure compatible
standards of conduct toward the members of the Class.
53,  Plaintiffs will fairly and adequately protect the interests of the Class and have retained counsej
competent and expetienced in class action litigation. Plaintiffs have no interests antagonistic to, or i
conflict with, the Class that Plaintiffs seek to represent.
54.  Plaintiffs reserve the right to revise the above class definition based on facts fearned in
discovery. »
FIRST CAUSE OF ACTION

(v _iolation of California’s Right of Publicity Statute, Civil Code § 3344)
55. Plaintiffs iﬁc;)rporatc each of the foregoing allegations as if fully set forth herein.
56. California’;s Right of Publicity Statute, California Civil Code § 3344 et seq. protects person%
from the unauthorized appropriation of the person’s identity by another for commercial gain,
57. During the Class period, FACEBOOK and Does 1-100 knowingly used Plaintffs' names,
photographs, or l_';_l.;cnesses to directly advertise or sell a product or service.
58. FACEBOOK did not have Plaintiffs’ consent to do so.
59. Plaintiffs received no compensation or other consideration for FACEBQOK’s {and/cr Docs |-
100) use thereof. -
60. Pleintiffs were harmed by FACEBOOK’s actions.
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6l. Usecof PIéintiffs’ names, photogr#phs, and [ikenesses were directly connected to FACEBOOK s
and/or Does 1-100°s commercial use.

62. FACEBOOK's and Does 1-100’s actions were & substantial factor in Plaintiffs’ harm.
63. The advertisements were not used in conjunction with news, public affairs, a sports broadcast og
account, or arpoli-tical campaign.

64. Eachincident is a separate and distinct violation of Cal. Civil Code § 3344,
65. Plaintiffs and members of the Class therefore seck injunctive relief, and other such preliminary
and other equitable or declaratory relicf as may be appropriate.

66. Plaintiffs and members of the Class also scek remedy as provided for by Cal. Civ. Code
3344(s) in the amount equal to the greater of $750 per incident, or actual damages, any proﬂj
attributable to FACEBOOK’s (and Does 1-100's) illegal action and not taken into account into actuak
damages punitive damages, attormneys fees and costs, and any relief 25 may be appropriate.

SECOND CAUSE OF ACTION
(Violation of Cal. Bus. & Prof. Code §17200)

67. Plaintiffs incorporate each of the foregoing aflegations as if fully set forth herein.

68. As described herein, FACEBOOK's (and Does 1-100°s) nonconsensual use of its members
names, photographs, likenesses, and identities is a violation of California’s Right to Publicity Statute
Civil Code § 3344, and of the common law privacy tort, appropriation of another’s likeness or identity]
for commercial gain, ' ‘
69. These violations satisfy the “unlawful” prong of the Unfair Competition Law ("UCL"), Cal. Bus;
& Prof. Code § 17200, et seq.
70. FACEBOOK (and Does 1-100) violated the “fraudulent” prong of the UCL by explicitly
representing that’ members have full control prevent their appearance in Facebook advertising,
including Spon;éirgd Stories, when in reality there is no meaningful way to prevent one’s name;
ph:togmgh, likerizss or identity from appearing as an endorsement in Sponsored Stories.
71.  Altemnatively, to the degree the Terms of Use were modified to truthfully represent a member’y
inability to meaningfully opt out of Sponsored Stories, FACEBOOK violated the “fraudulent” prong of
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the UCL by krm'wingly and intentionally failing to seek and acquire informed consent regarding such
changes to the Terms of Use.

72.  FACEBOOK violated the “unfair” prong of the UCL by leading members to believe they can op{
out of advertising endorsements, encouraging members o weave Facebook into their lives such that it
becomes hzdispﬁ;sible, and then introducing an advertising service from which members are unable to
opt out. A

73.  FACEBOOK violated the “unfair” prong of the UCL by intentionally profiting from the
nonconsensual endorsements extracted from members without sharing those profits with thosg
members.

74. FACEBOOK’s unfair, deceptive and fraudulent practices originated from andfor occurred
primarily in California. Decisions concerning the crestion of Sponsored Stories were made in
California, FACEBOOK maintains ail or a substantial part of its computer systems that serve up
Facebook in California, and all or a substantial part of the code and content that comprise Sponsored
Stories is developed and deployed within and from California.

75.  Pursuant to Cal. Bus. & Prof. Code § 17203, Plaintiffs seek an order of this Court permanent!
enjoining FACEBOOK (and Does 1-100) from continuing to engage in the unlawful, unfair an
fraudulent conduct described herein, Plaintiffs seek an order requiring FACEBOOK to (1) immediatel
cease the unlawful practices stated in this Complaint, and (2) award Plaintiff and the Class ressonsbis

costs and attomeys’ fees pursuant to Cal. Code of Civ. Proc. § 1021.5.

76.  Plaintiffs each lost money to which they were entitled in the form of compensation for the use of
their images and‘z.lames, and in which they had a vested interest, by virtue of FACEBOOK's (and Does
1-100’s) conduct. They are entitled to restitution of such sums.

THIRD CAUSE OF ACTION
(Unjust Ecrichment)

77.  Plaintiff incorporates each of the foregoing allegations as if fully set forth herein.
78. Plaintiff and the Class have conferred a benefit upon FACEBOOK (and Does 1-100),
FACEBOOK (and Does 1-100) has received and retained money from advertisers, a portion of which
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belong to Plaintiffs and the Class as & result of co-opting members names, photographs, likenesses and
identities, and placing them in paid-for edvertiscments—Sponsored Stories—as described herein.
79. FACEBOOK (and Does 1-100) appreciates or has knowledge of said benefit.
80. Under principles of equity and good conscience, FACEBOOK (and Does 1-100) should not bs
permitted to retain money belonging to Plaintiffs and the Ciass that it unjustly received as a result of it
actions. -
81. Plaintiffs and the Class have suffered loss as a divect result of FACEBOOK's (and Does 1-100°s)
conduct. ‘
82. Plaintiffs, on their own behalf and on behalf of the Class, seek the imposition of a constructive
frust on and restitution of the proceeds FACEBOOK (and Does 1-100) received as a resuit of ity
conduct described herein, as wel as attomey's fees and costs pursuant to Cal. Civ. Proc. Code § 1021.5/
83. PRAYER FOR RELIEF WHEREFORE, Plaintiffs individually and on behalf of the Class, pray)
for the following relief:
. Certify this case as a class action on behalf of the Class defined above, appoint
Plaintiffs Angel Fraley, Paul Wang and Susan Mainzer as class representatives,
and appoint their counsel as Class co-counsel; ‘
. Iéeclare that FACEBOOK's actions, as described herein, violate the California
Right to Publicity Act (Cal. Civ. Code § 3344), violate the Unfair Competition
'Law, and have led to unjust enrichment;
¢ Award injunctive and other equitéble relief as is necessary to protect the interests
of the Plaintiffs and the Class, including, inter alia, an order prohibiting
FACEBOOK from engaging in the wrongful and unlawful acts described herein;
s Disgorge FACEBOOK of all revenue camed from its Sponsored Stories feature
during the class period;
o Award damages, including statutory damages where applicable, to Plaintiffs and
the Class in an aﬁomt to be determined at trial;
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JURY TRIAL DEMANDED
Plaintiff demands a jury trial on all ieswe so

Awerd all economic, monstary, actunl, consequentisl, end compensatory demages
causod by FACEBOOK's (wad Doos 1-100") conduct, and if its condut is proved
willful, award Plaintiffs and the Class exemplary damages;

Award punitive damages;

Award restitution against FACEBOOK (and Does 1-100) for all money to which
Plattiffs and the Class aro entitled in equity;

Awad Pleintiffs and the Class their reasonshle litigation expensos and atiomeys’
fees;

Award Plaintiffs and the Ciass pre- and poswjudgment interest, o the extent
allownble; and .

Award such other mod furthes rellef ns equity snd justice may roquire.

By

ROBERT S ARNS
JONATHAN E. DAVIS

STEVEN R WEINMANN
THE ARMNS LAW FIRM

515 Polsom Street, 3nd Floor
CA 94105

é‘¢ %‘Hﬁ 9

Berkeeley,
Telephione; ($10) 725-4293
Attorneys for Plaintiffs
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: . ATTACHMENT cv-so{z.
CIVIL LAWSUIT NOTICE :

Superior Court of Californla, County of Senfa Clars CASENUMBER: . 1311 O ¥196198
191 N, First St, San Jose, CA 95113 .

PLEASE READ THIS ENTIRE FORM

PLAINTIFF (the person sulng): Within €0 days after filng the Jawsult, you must seve each Defendant with the Complaint,
smmmmmewmmwmmm andawpyonm Civil Lawsuit Notics, andynu must file
vwlﬂenpmfofwmsewbe

_q&&mﬂzﬂm person sued} You must do each of tha following to pml:ect your rights:

1. Youmustﬁhawﬂtenmmmbﬂn%nﬂﬂus&wﬁnpmpwm!wmamlnmc!erl:'somﬁtm
Coirt, within 30 days of the dale you ware served with the Summons and Complairt, :
2, You rmust sarve by mall a copy of your witian sesponse on the Halmﬂ'aatbworenhe?hhﬂ!?tahmhum

ahmey(h'msbymdrmamshInvemaduitomerthmymsdfmaﬂaoom.and
3. Youmust aitand the firs{ Case Management Conferenca.

Waming: if you, as the Defendant, do not foliow thase lutmctiom,
you may au!omlllcﬂiy lose thls cate, .

RULES AND FORMS: You musgmtmcalfmhaumofcounmme&mrmuwcm. County of Santa Clars
Local Civil Rulas &nd use propar forms. You can obtain iegal information, view the rules and receive forms, free of charga, from
the SelkHelp Center ot 99 Notra Dama Avanue, Sen Josa {408-882-2000 x-2026), www scealfssrvica ofg (Setect *Chvit) or from:

w  State Rules and Judictal Councll Formas: wmmmmﬂ.m
= Locel Rules and Forms: bitos/fwww socating

CASE MANAGEIIENT CONFERENCE {CMC): Ywmmmmmmmmmdw the case, In person of by
telephons, &t least 30 calendar days befora the CMC. You mmummmmammmmms:mm
(JtdiﬁdOwrdthM-ﬁD)albaﬁﬁcathdaysbeiomﬂnCMC

You of your attomey must appaar at the CMC. You may ask fo appear by tslephons - soe Local O Rufs 8,

Yow Cese Management Judge ls: _Honorable Peter Kirwan ) Dopartment: ___ 8

The 1+ CNIC Ix scheduled for: (Cw Clerk of Courl)
Date: A bé 201 Time: 3:00 E¥ in Depertnient; 8

The naxt CMC It scheduled for: (Complatad by parly ¥ the 1% CMC was contiued or hag passed)
" Date: Time: in Departmant;

ALTERNATIVE DISPUTE RESCLUTION (ADR); H el parties hava appeared and filed a compisted ADR Stipulation Form {ocal
mmcv-soua)snaasnscmmmem the Court will cangel the CMC and mall nofice of an ADR Stalus Conferenca. -
Vist the Cowrl's websits et www.socsunel torakiUADRY or calf the ADR Administrelor {408-8082-2400 x-2530} for a kst of
ADRmvaamMmMmmm andfaas.

WARNING; Senctions mey bie impossd E you do not follow the Calfomia Rufes of Coustor the Local Rules of Coust

Form CV-8012 REV 70108 o GIVIL, LAWSUIT NOTICE ’ Paw i o4
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SUPERIOR COURT OF CALIFORNIA, COUNTY OF SANTA CLARA
ALTERNATIVE DISPUTE RESOLUTION
INFORMATION SHEET / CIVIL DIVISION

My cusss can be resolvod to the satisfaction of 81 purties without e neceasity of kaditional tigaiion, which can be sxpentive,
time consuming, xad strexsfil. Tha Court fincds thut it 18 n the best interests of the partios that they participrte in eliamatives to
teacitfonal Jtigatton, inchading wibitration, mediation, noutrel evalustion, spacial marer and heferem, sud saillsment confereacts.
Therefare, ell watters shall o reforrod to o0 sppropsists fomm of Aktemative Dispute Resoletion (ADR) before they are sot for trish,
uniess there is pood come to dispense with the ADR requirement.

Weat ls ADR?

ADR is the general torm for s wids variety of dispute resclution processes that are aiternatives. to Etigation. Types of ADR
processes ir.clude medistion, asbiteation, seutral evelustion, special masters and refbrses, and sotticeent canfbrences, smong ofhers

What ere the sdvantages of choosiug ADR instead of iligatlon?

ADR can hava anumber of sdvantagea over litigation:

< ADR can mtlmhﬂtﬁuomhmhedhlmnfmﬂn.nrmm-wﬁh Hﬁwmcn_mym.
< ADR ca save mozey. Atiomey's feea, court costa, and expurt fees can be reduced of avoided afogether.

< ADR provides siore participation. Parties bave more oppostunitles with ADR, o exgeest their rtercsts aad ooncomd, Fustead of
focusing exchusively on legal nights.

<ADRpl’wlllﬂmmmntrd_andMﬁt{.?ﬂﬁumo&mtﬁaﬂm&ﬂhmmpmtm
revolution to their dispute. '

‘<ADR:;- reduce strest. ADR encouragzes cooperation and commnication, whilo discousging the adversaial atmosphere of
litigation, Surveys of parties who bave partivipated In s ADR process have found much gicater satisfaction then with parties who
have gons Trough Htigation,

Whot ars the wuls forms of ADR cffeved &p the Courd?

< Mediation is sn informal, confidentisl, flexibls and non-binding process in the mediator heips the particsto undenstand the
mutwmmmammuhmdmmmmmpsmmmmnw,
mwmmwmwmd.mhmmmnmdummmmm

. decido the sotution o tho dispute; the partios do.

< Modlation may Yo spproprists when .
« The parties want & son-adversary procedure
< Thepactizs have a continuing tusinass or personad relstionship
< Communieztion problems erc interfering with a resolution
<Thoro Is an emotionsl element involved
<mmuhmhmhmwommdoﬂu.ermmdmbhnﬁal

< Nawtral evaliation, sometimes called “Barly Meutral Byshutioa™ or “ENE™, s an informal process in whick the evalistor, a8
eporienced nevil lawyes, hears & compati presentation of both sidos of the cas, gives & non-binding extessment of the
strengthe ard vresknossas o esch aide, and prodicts the Hikely cuicome, The avaletor can help pacties to ientily frvuet,
propare stipstations, snd dorft dissovery plans. The parties may bos the notral® s evaluation 1o discuas settiement-

Hetrtral cvaivation may be sppopriaie when:

- < The paziios are far apati in tholr viow of e lrw or vaiuo of the case
<The cese involves s tocknical lsvue in which the cvaluator haa expartise
<Cmplcndnsudnneewqﬂdhh!pﬂmdmdﬂuwbplﬂmudm

. <Thuprﬁ-mlnmlnwlqrmdimmmm0§mmﬂqdmrdm

e

ALTERNATIVE DISPUTE RESOLUTION INFORKATION SHEET/ CIVIL DIVISION
CV-5003 REVADE - |
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mwm:mmmummmmmmwm&mmimamm
rejecty the srbitrator's Mmmmmm requesisu trisl. Private aibdinioes srs allowed to chirge for thely fime,

A.tbltnuoamybeappnphum
< The xotion is o pergonal infury, propecty damage, or breach of contrect
< Caly montiary dimagse aro sougit
< Witness testimorny, under cath, needs to be evalustod
<An Mopinbn t-mguamnwmpmanmmmmmm

< vl Judge mkwmmmhnam&ﬂunmumhmecwhhnmhmdjdp of the Superior Cowrt.
Mediition I 21 inforrsal, confidentisl, flexible and non-biading proccsi in which the judge helps the parties 1o understund te
infesests of everyone involved, and their prectical and legal cholcss. A settiément conferente lan informal process ln which the
mmmmmﬂuwmmmmmam&mwmﬁﬂrymnwmmm
mggenta & resofution tiat the pactics ey acompt or uze ax « besis for futher nagotiations. The request for mediaiion of seitloment

mmummwmm(wnpmmormmmmmsmnnhm
chargs for this service.

Civil hedge ADR may be spproprisis whon:
mwﬂuhmmhhtshmw
< The cuaa involves mauttipls perties and problems
<mmmdhgwhmmbm:m

* <Gpecial musiers and refereos are neutral parties who muwhmommm“w make speciiic
fict findings thet may load Lo 8 resolution of 8 disyute.

Mlmﬂmhmmhpdkdmdhﬂnhmﬂum%nmdmﬁhmmﬁum
<&Mmrmmmhmlmhmmmtlwwnwwmﬂmmu

mmmmdhmwnmmuummmm;mmmm
may sooept O uve 83 & basls for fuxther negotistions.

Setiioment confecences can be effective when ths suthority or expertiss of the Judge or experioaced stornely may belp the partios
reach & resolution.

. FPhat Aind of dsputes can ba resvived by ADRY

M&wﬁm@mmnbm”wd@mmhmwmmwmm
basiness mattors; eivil WMWMMWMW

pacinorhipe; patonits;
vrongll dosth, moth

%muuyu;um with selecting an wmﬁm of ADR ullm,h-yuu—m Information abowt ADR
procedurss, ar-answert 10 otker queriions sboui )

Contact:

Sants Clare County Superior Court SuhﬁmOwntjDRPACnuﬁlu
ADR Adminlstrater . #03-792-2910

403-3832.2530 -

’ ALTERNATIVE DISPUTE RESOLUTION INFORMATION SHEET/ CIVIL DIVISION

CV-5003REV 808
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